Regenerative Therapy 18 (2021) 133-145

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

**Regenerative Therapy** 

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/reth

## Review

## The promising rise of bioprinting in revolutionalizing medical science: Advances and possibilities



Radia Jamee<sup>a, c</sup>, Yusha Araf<sup>b</sup>, Iftekhar Bin Naser<sup>a</sup>, Salman Khan Promon<sup>a, c, \*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, School of Data and Sciences, Brac University, Dhaka, Bangladesh

<sup>b</sup> Department of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, School of Life Sciences, Shahjalal University of Science and Technology, Sylhet, Bangladesh

<sup>c</sup> Mechamind, Dhaka, Bangladesh

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 November 2020 Received in revised form 19 February 2021 Accepted 26 May 2021

Keywords: Bioprinting Bioinks Tissue engineering

#### ABSTRACT

Bioprinting is a relatively new yet evolving technique predominantly used in regenerative medicine and tissue engineering. 3D bioprinting techniques combine the advantages of creating Extracellular Matrix (ECM)like environments for cells and computer-aided tailoring of predetermined tissue shapes and structures. The essential application of bioprinting is for the regeneration or restoration of damaged and injured tissues by producing implantable tissues and organs. The capability of bioprinting is yet to be fully scrutinized in sectors like the patient-specific spatial distribution of cells, bio-robotics, etc. In this review, currently developed experimental systems and strategies for the bioprinting of different types of tissues as well as for drug delivery and cancer research are explored for potential applications. This review also digs into the most recent opportunities and future possibilities for the efficient implementation of bioprinting to restructure medical and technological practices.

© 2021, The Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/ 4.0/).

## Contents

1.	Intro	pduction					
	1.1.	Bioprinting					
	12. Bioinks for tissue engineering						
	1.3.	13. Fundamental steps in bioprinting					
2.	Techr	niques for 3D bioprinting					
	2.1.	Droplet-based bioprinting					
		2.1.1. Inkjet bioprinting					
		2.1.2. Electrohydrodynamic jet (EHD]) bioprinting					
		2.1.3. Acoustic bioprinting					
		2.1.4. Micro-valve bioprinting					
		2.1.5. Laser-assisted bioprinting					
	2.2.	Extrusion-based bioprinting					
		2.2.1. Pneumatic-driven extrusion					
		2.2.2. Mechanical micro-extrusion					
	2.3. Photocuring-based bioprinting						
		2.3.1. Stereolithography (SLA)					
		2.3.2. Digital light processing (DLP)					
3.	Appli	ications of 3D bioprinting in tissue engineering and biomedicine					
	3.1. Bioprinting for tissue and organ regeneration						

\* Corresponding author. Department of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, School of Data and Sciences, Brac University, Dhaka, Bangladesh. *E-mail address:* salman.promon@gmail.com (S.K. Promon).

Peer review under responsibility of the Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reth.2021.05.006

<sup>2352-3204/© 2021,</sup> The Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

	3.1.1. Hard tissue	137
	3.1.2. Soft tissue	138
	3.2. Drug delivery and screening	140
	3.3. Tumor modeling	140
4.	Bioprinting: present and future	141
	4.1. Recent advances and challenges	141
	4.2. Future opportunities	141
5.	Conclusion	142
	Declaration of competing interest	142
	References	142

## 1. Introduction

## 1.1. Bioprinting

In the present age of technology and automation, tissue engineering has blurred the lines between reality and science fiction through the advancement of bioprinting technologies [1]. Bioprinting is an adaptation of additive (3D) printing, incorporating layer-by-layer deposition of biomaterials and bioactive molecules e.g. cells, growth factors, etc. This technology enables the designing and manufacturing of 3D constructs of tissues and organs mimicking the structure of their human counterparts [2]. The architecture is achieved precisely by the formulation of predefined locations and structures in computer-aided design software (CAD) [1]. The success of utilizing the bioprinting method depends on the functionality of the resulting structures. Design considerations have to be made based on three fundamental variables-bioactive components, cellular interactions, and the bioprinting device [3]. The core biomaterial for 3D printing called bioink comprises cells to be deposited, often enveloped in a carrier matrix that aims to imitate the physical and biochemical environment of native tissues and support adhesion, cell proliferation, differentiation [4]. Can bioprinting revolutionize biomedicine and biomedical engineering with the proper utilization of bioinks and different techniques, or is it limited to experimental use? This thorough review primarily centers around the potential implementation of 3D bioprinting in regenerative medicine and other medical sciences while also encompassing current tactics and future prospectives in bioprinting. (see Table 1)

## 1.2. Bioinks for tissue engineering

Bioinks used in bioprinters consists of an extensive range of materials that is continuously expanding [5]. Bioinks can be cellladen, cell-only (scaffold-free), or even cell-free (cell-adhesive channel) depending on tissue requirements [6]. Water-soluble polymers known as hydrogels are one of the predominant biomaterial components of 3D bioprinters [7]. Permeability to nutrients, oxygen, and other water-soluble molecules makes cellladen hydrogels convenient [8]. Hydrogels can be natural, synthetic, or a blend of both. Naturally derived polymers vastly used for tissue engineering include collagen, fibrin, gelatin, alginate, hyaluronic acid, decellularized extracellular matrix, chitosan, etc. [9]. The purpose of the carrier material of bioink is to provide structural and biochemical support similar to the native Extracellular Matrix (ECM). Collagen is favorable for being a major component of native ECM. However, compensations have to be made as it has low mechanical properties [10]. Both collagen and gelatin are naturally cell-adherent [5]. Fibrin and hyaluronic acid have excellent biodegradability. Fibrin aids in angiogenesis and promotes cell growth whereas hyaluronic acid has flexible usage [11]. Alginate is a biocompatible, low-cost natural polysaccharide commonly used in a blend with gelatin or fibrinogen [8]. Synthetic and biosynthetic bioinks serve additional benefits such as improved mechanical stability, photo cross-linking ability, controlled biodegradability, etc. Examples of synthetic bioinks include PEG-based bioinks, polyester-based bioinks, pluronic-based bioinks, polyurethane-based bioinks [12]. More advanced bioinks developed or developing include multi-material bioinks [13], functionalization/dual cross-linking, supramolecular hydrogels, interpenetrating network, nanocomposites, thermoplastic reinforcement [14], self-assembling bioinks, stimuli-responsive bioinks [8], etc.

Bioink design is pre-eminent for an efficient bioprinting process. Thus, it involves considerations like mechanical properties such as permeability, viscosity, and tensile strength [15], biochemical properties, cytotoxicity of components, printability, degradability, and biocompatibility [11]. To maintain high cell viability after printing the materials used must not be susceptible to shear stress. In addition, the bioinks used must be biocompatible and biodegradable to successfully generate bioprinted tissue [16]. The choice of cells and hydrogel in a cell-laden bioink principally depends on the target tissue to be reconstructed.

## 1.3. Fundamental steps in bioprinting

Generally, the bioprinting process consists of three major steps [17]. For the **pre-bioprinting stage**, medical images are used as a guide to design the blueprint of the tissue using computer-aided design software (CAD) [18]. The **physical bioprinting step** comprises bioink composition, compact and good resolution bioprinter selection, and lastly, repeatable and biocompatible bioprinting [17]. This step is crucial for achieving affordable and functional bioprinting. Finally, the **post-bioprinting stage** refers to the mechanical and chemical conditioning of the constructs, usually performed in a bioreactor. To ensure the functionality of the bioprinted construct optical image analysis, mechanical stability assessment, swelling and degradation analysis, etc. are performed [19].

#### 2. Techniques for 3D bioprinting

Bioprinting of desired tissues may utilize different techniques according to their individual principles, material demands, and considering their advantages, disadvantages. Based on the principle of operation, 3D bioprinting can be categorized into three types: droplet-based, extrusion-based, and photocuring-based [20].

## 2.1. Droplet-based bioprinting

Droplet-based bioprinting uses droplets of controlled volumes of bioink todeposit at predetermined locations. Due to its precise

#### Table 1

c .	c	. 1	1								
Summary	nt	other	annlications	nt	nin	nrinting	ın	cancer	TICC11P	enginee	ring
Juilling	U1	other	applications	01	010	printing	111	cancer	ussuc	Chgnice	

Cancer Type	Bioink Composition	Bioprinting Method	Observations	Ref
Ovarian cancer	Ovarian cancer cells + Matrigel	Pneumatic cell droplet	Micropatterning ovarian cancer cells (OVCAR-5) and fibroblasts (MRC-5) with spatial control, characterization of acini growth kinetics	[174]
Liver cancer	Hepatic carcinoma cells + Matrigel	Pneumatic Extrusion	Radiation shielding capabilities of the prodrug amifostine benefits in dual-cell model	[175]
Brain cancer	Endothelial cells + Glioma stem cells + Collagen/Laminin	Extrusion	Tumor microenvironment of glioma/vascular system with dynamic flow to model cell–cell interaction of neoplastic glioma cells and ECs	[176]
Brain cancer	U118 glioma + Pluripotent Stem Cell- Derived Neural Organoid	Extrusion	Invasion of human tumour cells using different neural progenitor cell lines, cell-tracking dyes and 3D laser scanning confocal microscopy	[177]
Cervical cancer	HeLa/10T1/2 + Poly (ethylene glycol) diacrylate	Projection stereolithography	Comparison between cancerous and non-cancerous cell lines (HeLa vs 10T1/2)	[178]
Oral cancer	$\beta$ -Tricalciumphosphate	Extrusion	Incorporating oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) cell line spheroids to a 3Dbioprinted model to depict the stages of oral cancer	[179]
Cervical cancer	HeLa + Gelatin/Alginate/Fibrinogen	Extrusion	Viability, proliferation, Matrix Metalloproteinase (MMP) expression, and chemoresistance	[180]
Breast cancer	Breast Adenocarcinoma + Mouse Macrophage + Sodium alginate	Coaxial extrusion	Tumor microenvironment to explore migration of segregrated tumor cells and macrophages (>90% viability)	[181]
Breast cancer	Breast cancer cells + (Fetal osteroblasts/ Mesenchymal stem cells) + Gelatin methacrylate	Stereolithography	Observation of interactions between BrCa and MSC/ osteoblasts, and VEGF secretion in artificial bone microenvironment	[172]
Breast cancer	Breast cancer cells + Poly (ethylene glycol)	Continuous 3D projection	Breast cancer spheroids showed hypoxic coresand signs of necrosis, key features of tumor environment	[182]
Breast cancer	MCF-7 + Poly (ethylene glycol)	Inkjet	In situ cell seeding for the formation of breast cancer cellular spheroids and analysis as potential microenvironment (>90% viability)	[183]
Brain cancer	Human glioma stem cells + Gelatin/ Alginate/Fibrinogen	Extrusion	Tumor microenvironment with over 87% cell viability; potential for vascularization, tumor angiogenesis, and VEGF secretion	[184]
Brain cancer	Glioblastoma-associated macrophages + glioblastoma multiforme + Gelatin methacryloyl/ Gelatin	Extrusion	In the printed mini-brains, glioblastoma cells actively recruited macrophages and polarized them into a GAM- specific phenotype. Also, macrophages induced glioblastoma cell progression and invasiveness	[173]
Brain cancer	$GSC23 + U118 + Sodium \ alginate$	Coaxial extrusion	Glioma microenvironment evaluation for invasion and drug screening	[185]
Brain cancer	GSC23 + HMSCs + Sodium alginate/ Gelatin	Coaxial extrusion	Tumor-stroma cells interaction, transcription of RFP	[186]
Breast cancer	Breast cancer cells + Gelatin	Laser-assisted	Laser direct-writing on rat mesentery tissues, quantitative study of cancer cell activity, angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis	[187]
Cervical cancer	HeLa + Collagen (printed on a nanofibrous membrane in co-culture with fibroblasts)	Inkjet	Matrix Metalloproteinase 2 (MMP2) and Matrix Metalloproteinase 9 (MMP9), drug screening	[188]

control of deposition, simplicity, and versatility, it has a large area of application including regenerative medicine, transplantation, highthroughput screening, oncology, etc. [21].

#### 2.1.1. Inkjet bioprinting

Inkjet bioprinting is a non-contact technique of bioprinting in which droplets of bioinks are ejected under pressure [6]. Inkjet techniques make use of the physical properties of bioinks, such as viscosity, surface tension, density, etc. [20]. Inkjet bioprinting can be continuous or drop on demand (DOD). Whereas continuous inkjet bioprinters continuously release bioinks, DOD inkjet bioprinters make use of pressure pulses to eject droplets when required. The pressure pulses are usually generated by thermal, piezoelectric, or electrostatic actuators [22]. The thermal actuator in a thermal inkjet bioprinter is an electric heating unit that vaporizes the bioink solution to form a vapor bubble. Eventually, the vapor bubble expands due to pressure and rapidly explodes, generating a pulse pressure that ejects a bioink droplet [3]. Such temperature changes do not significantly affect cell viability as the processes only take a few microseconds. The bioprinted cells have

been assessed to maintain their proliferation capacity, genotype, phenotype, and function [23]. On the other hand, in a piezoelectric inkjet bioprinter, a voltage pulse causes the piezoelectric actuator to change its shape. Sudden change in the volume of the fluid chamber containing bioink subsequently causes the release of a droplet [24]. There was no issue in sustaining the cell viability even after the process [25]. Electrostatic actuators work quite similarly. When a voltage pulse is applied between a pressure plate and an electrode, the pressure plate deflects. There was about an 80–95% yield in the cells printed from thermal, piezoelectric and electrostatic inkjet bioprinting method, confirming a high cell viability [26]. Removal of the voltage pulse brings the pressure plate back to its original shape ejecting a bioink droplet [21].

Inkjet bioprinting techniques show promise as they provide high-resolution printing due to its fine control over the ejection of droplets and pico-liter sized ink droplets [27].

#### 2.1.2. Electrohydrodynamic jet (EHDJ) bioprinting

EHDJ bioprinting technique uses an electrical field to drive the bioink droplets. The bioink solution is pumped through a needle

connected to a high voltage generator [28]. High-resolution printed tissue can be achieved, firstly because the nozzles are much smaller in diameter than inkjet printers. This allows the droplets to be much more focused and precise. Secondly, electrohydrodynamics generates droplets that can be significantly smaller than this diameter. The size of the droplet is also influenced by the voltage applied-high voltage bringing smaller droplets. Lastly, lateral variations are minimal in droplet placement due to the focused distribution of electric field lines [29]. EHDJ printing is a comparatively complex process. Careful selection, control, and optimization of bioink are essential for this technique as it is not only dependent on the viscosity, surface tension, and density, but also the electrical conductivity and evaporation rate of the bioink [30]. Cell viability depends on the applied voltage, bioink flow rate, and bioink properties.

## 2.1.3. Acoustic bioprinting

The acoustic bioprinting technique keeps the biomaterials free from detrimental stress like heat, high voltage, high pressure, and any form of shear stress. Droplets are ejected using a gentle acoustic field through a nozzle [31]. However, gentle acoustic fields are not capable of ejecting droplets of bioinks that are viscous or have high cell concentration. Studies on this technique are quite limited.

#### 2.1.4. Micro-valve bioprinting

Micro-valve bioprinting employs an electromechanical valve to control the ejection of droplets. The nozzle opening of the device is gated by the valve which is unlatched by a magnetic field created by a voltage pulse. The pressure in the fluid chamber containing bioinks overcomes the surface tension resulting in the generation of a droplet [32]. Cells are less prone to damage through this process than piezoelectric bioprinting due to the low range of pneumatic pressure used.

Droplet-based bioprinting offers excellent spatial resolution which makes it desirable for application in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. These techniques also provide a good resolution and relatively high cell viability at a lower expense [22]. However, droplet-based methods also have their drawbacks. The most prominent problem is the clogging of the nozzle when the bioink is too viscous [33].

## 2.1.5. Laser-assisted bioprinting

With similar mechanisms as inkjet printers, laser-assisted bioprinting uses laser pulses to induce microbubbles. Support comprising bioink in the form of a thin sheet or film Is attached to laser-absorbing metal or metal oxides, commonly gold or titanium [34]. A laser beam is pulsed at the interface of the target substrate and the absorptive layer, causing thermal volatilization and subsequently formation of a microbubble [35]. Bioink droplet is ejected through the expansion of the microbubble.

Overcoming the limitations of other droplet-based methods, laser-assisted bioprinting supports bioinks with higher viscosities [8]. The clogging problem is absent in the case of laserassisted technique as it is nozzle-free. The non-contact, nozzlefree process also protects cellular components from shear stress resulting in higher cell viability [36]. However, the cell viability also gets slightly reduced due to the pulsed laser technology involved in this mechanism [37]. The laser-assisted bioprinting also provides high-resolution printing. Yet, it is highly expensive and complex, leading to several operational issues [4]. Even though the process is fast, droplet size limits the overall volume deposition over time.

#### 2.2. Extrusion-based bioprinting

In extrusion-based bioprinting, ongoing filaments are produced through continuous extrusion force instead of single droplets [38]. This technology is suitable for printing highly concentrated cells which means high viscosity bioinks. The ink used in extrusion bioprinting is distributed by mechanical force like screw or piston, or via a gas or pressurized air [39].

## 2.2.1. Pneumatic-driven extrusion

The extrusion technique involving pneumatic force utilizes compressed air with valve-free or valve-based configuration [9]. The air pump with sterilized air is connected to a bioink-filled syringe [40]. Pneumatical extrusion of the bioink causes shear stress, which means only the type of bioinks that have shear-thinning properties can maintain filamentous shape after extrusion. Valvefree extrusion is relatively simple. For high-precision performance, however, valve-based extrusion is preferred [41]. This is one of the most convenient techniques for printing cell-laden bioink [42].

#### 2.2.2. Mechanical micro-extrusion

Micro-extrusion refers to when the nozzle orifice has a diameter of less than 1 mm [43]. Mechanical driven extrusion is suitable for highly viscous bioinks, such as synthetic and natural polymers. One commonly used mechanical micro-extrusion technique is the piston-based extrusion, which employs a piston connected to an electric motor. Rotation in the motor through an electrical pulse drives the piston forward thereby pushing bioink through the nozzle [40].

The screw-driven extrusion technique provides more volumetric control and is useful for higher viscosity biomaterials [44]. In this technique, a screw connected to the motor instead of a piston drives the release of the bioink. This process can accommodate larger pressure drops through the nozzle. Mechanical methods provide higher resolution and better printability for a larger range of biomaterials, though it requires a tighter tolerance selection of the ram and nozzle [9].

Extrusion-based bioprinting is preferable for high cell densities and is relatively fast-paced [45]. As native tissues contain densely packed cells, printing cells at high density is significant for use in regenerative medicine [22]. A variety of bioinks can be used in this technique, which is an advantage. One of the most commonly used bioinks for extrusion is alginate [46]. Bioinks used for extrusionbased bioprinting has to be fairly viscous in order to enhance resolution and remain stable in the mechanically stressful process. However, the resulting high shear forces in pneumatic driven extrusion lead to low cell viability [47]. Nevertheless, the cell viability is still about 90% in cells manufactured from extrusionbased bioprinting [48]. The resolution is relatively low [4].

#### 2.3. Photocuring-based bioprinting

#### 2.3.1. Stereolithography (SLA)

Stereolithography utilizes a photocuring-based technique solidifying photosensitive polymers to form tissue constructs under precisely controlled lighting [20]. The ultraviolet ray is directed at a reservoir of photosensitive polymers. For each layer deposition, laser scans a 2D pattern by passing through its path point-by-point and the controlled light interacts with the bioink material to polymerize it according to a specific design [49]. After one layer is cured, the printing platform moves upwards or downwards, away from the laser source, so that new unpolymerized ink material can flow into position for the next layer [50].

#### 2.3.2. Digital light processing (DLP)

The technique is quite similar to SLA, except for the different light scanning mode. Instead of point-by-point, in DLP the light is projected onto the surface of the layer at once [18]. This has a significant advantage in processing time.

Photocuring-based bioprinting approaches have a rapid fabrication time [51]. Less dependency on mechanical forces generates higher cell viability. In addition, complex architectures of tissues can be constructed using these techniques with high resolution [52]. However, the processes require a very careful selection of biomaterials, and photoinitiators are often introduced to the bioink to improve photosensitivity which can affect cell viability [53]. Also, the cumulative UV exposure is a drawback [45].

# 3. Applications of 3D bioprinting in tissue engineering and biomedicine

#### 3.1. Bioprinting for tissue and organ regeneration

Severe damage in human tissues caused by trauma or diseases requires medical attention for regeneration or transplantation. Previously existing tissue engineering techniques alone are not sufficient to produce tissues and organs for medical use except drug testing. The success of organ transplantation is also limited due to donor shortage and immune reactions [54]. The heterogeneous structures of natural tissue, ECM organization, and gradients play a significant role in cell migration, proliferation, and differentiation [55]. The aim of using bioprinting in tissue engineering is to achieve well-vascularized, functional, and reproducible complex tissue structures of heterogeneous compositions, suitable for future clinical use. The architecture of the target tissue to be printed is constructed by computer-aided design/computer-aided manufacturing tools based on medical images obtained from patients [56]. As discussed before, printed tissues have the potential to provide the necessary behavioral cues to cells as well as facilitate vascular network generation [6]. The choice of bioinks and the techniques of printing are influenced by the structure of the target tissue. Recent advances in regenerative medicine using bioprintingexamine restoration, replacement, and regeneration of damaged or injured skin, bone, cartilage, neural tissue, heart, blood vessels, and so on. Bioprinted tissues can be achieved using tissuespecific bioinks or from stem cells [57]. This section emphasizes the established studies and applications of 3D bioprinting for the regeneration of hard and soft tissues.

## 3.1.1. Hard tissue

3.1.1.1. Bone and cartilage. Bone is a complex composite of minerals and organic matrix with a distinct structural organization [58]. Bone is a self-healing tissue, yet, the self-regeneration is typically limited. Cartilage is a connective tissue primarily comprising collagen and proteoglycans [59]. Hyaline cartilage that is found between joints is an important factor when reconstructing bone tissue [60]. Avascular cartilage does not regenerate spontaneously. Thermoplastics such as polycaprolactone (PCL) and PLA have been utilized for 3D bioprinting of cartilage tissue. Bioprinting can precisely mimic the complex architecture of bone tissue and provide fast and often inexpensive mandibular, skull bolt, and maxillar bone reconstruction and regeneration.

Endothelial progenitor cells and multipotent stromal cells encapsulated in Matrigel or Matrigel and alginate have been studied [61] for the development of bone-like tissue by implantation into subcutaneous dorsal pockets of mice. A fibrin-collagen hydrogel with rabbit articular chondrocytes has been printed using an inkjet-based technique onto anelectrospun PCL matrix [62]. The inclusion of the PCL enhanced the mechanical properties of the construct. The cartilage tissue formed within the bioprinted scaffolds over a period of 8 weekswas similar to natural elastic cartilage. Human chondrocytes have also been utilized, suspended in poly (ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate (PEGDMA) solution [63]. The scaffolds were supplemented with either fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) or transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1) to benefit cartilage development. An *in situ* printing approach by Cui et al. utilized the same printing method wherein the scaffolds were printed either separately or directly into osteochondral plugs that had been harvested from bovine femoral condyles [64]. Even though the cell viability was promising, low compressive modulus compared to the human articular cartilage of the lower limbs indicates the need for further structural development of the scaffold before human implantation. Decellularized bone matrix loaded with human adipose-derived stem cells (hASCs) in a PCL matrix was studied for craniofacial regeneration in mice [65]. Due to the tissue's complex structure, chondral and osteochondral injuries are difficult to heal. An approach called "in-situ biopen" was developed by O'Connell et al. to reconstruct chondral, maxilla, and mandible defects. A human infrapatellar fat pad (IPFP) adipose stem cellladenGelMA or hyaluronic acid-methacrylate hydrogel construct was fabricated utilizing the biopen [66]. Dhariwala et al. used poly (ethylene oxide) (PEO) and CHO cells to achieve a high resolution bioprinted construct using the SLA technique, however, lacking structural strength [67]. Lu et al. also used the SLA technique with stem cells derived from mouse bone marrow stromal cells in PEDGA hydrogel [68]. Cartilage is avascular and has low cell densities, which makes regeneration of cartilage tissue difficult. To address this issue, trophic factors have been added into cell-laden cartilage scaffolds [69]. For the rapid development of adequate vasculature, a pre-vascularization approach was developed through laser-assisted positioning of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) [70]. More recently, Sun et al. [71] developed a dual-factor (BMP4 and TGF $\beta$ 3) releasing gradient structured human and rabbit cartilage construct using mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) and poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) resulting in good interconnectivity. Overall, bioprinting of bone and cartilage tissue can provide a potential alternative to xenogeneic or allogeneic bone grafts.

3.1.1.2. Dental applications. Bioprinting offers a wide array of applications in dentistry, including dental aligners, dental and orthodontic models, direct crowns and bridges, surgical drill guides, flexible gingiva masks, night guards, and denture bases [72]. 3D bioprinting enables the use of digital models to fabricate orthodontic models with accuracy and reproducibility. In orthodontics, high-resolution printing in resin is already utilized practically and commercially. Resins named E-Model and E-Denstone which can be photopolymerised for use in DLP printers have been developed by EnvisionTEC [73]. Similarly, VisiJet M3 Dentcast and VisiJet M3 Pearlstone-two UV curable plastic polymers have been produced by 3D Systems [73]. Restorative dentistry is also utilizing similar processes. In maxillofacial and implant surgery, the use of anatomical models produced by bioprinting is on the rise. Bioprinting technology has been applied to develop periodontal regeneration by constructing hierarchical scaffolds, mimicking the physiological properties and architecture of the periodontium, consisting of both soft (gingiva, periodontal ligament) and hard (bone, cementum) tissues [74]. Different biomaterials used for dental applications include ceramics, composite materials, cell aggregates and spheroids, etc. Three-dimensional dentin-pulp complex with patient-specific shapes was developed by Han et al. inducing localized differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells in a fibrin-based hydrogel [75]. The future of implants and teeth will be heavily influenced by bioprinting. Periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs) in GelMA and poly (ethylene glycol) (PEG) dimethacrylate have been shown to have the potential for periodontal tissue regeneration [76]. Reconstruction of maxillary bone in a canine using a printed PCL/ $\beta$ TCP scaffold was achieved by Kim et al. [77].

## 3.1.2. Soft tissue

3.1.2.1. Skin. Human skin serves as a barrier to protect against potential physical damage, radiation, water loss, pathogens, toxic chemicals, etc [78]. The skin is composed of three layers, epidermis, dermis, and hypodermis. Epidermis primarily consists of keratinocytes and melanocytes, the dermis is rich in collagen and other ECM proteins excreted by fibroblasts, and hypodermis is predominantly composed of fat tissues [79]. The dermis is the layer containing additional functional structures such as sweat glands and hair shafts [80]. Treatment techniques like split-thickness skin grafts for skin injuries fail to provide complete restoration of sensory and motors neurons as well as structures like hair shafts and sweat glands [81]. Bioprinting also gets an additional advantage for its precision in cell deposition, automation, and standardization [82].

Skin bioprinting can be *in situ*, where the pre-cultured cells are directly printed at the wound site, allowing maturation in the natural environment [83]. The research on *in situ* skin bioprinting in limited. On the other hand, *in vitro* skin bioprinting has been vastly experimented, which achieves maturation of the tissue construct in a bioreactor before transplantation into the wound site [84]. Several bioinks and cell types have been tested by researchers to generate viable, biocompatible, and functional skin substitutes using bioprinting technology.

Lee et al. produced a skin graft utilizing microvalve dropletbased techniques, printing a layered structure using adult human dermal fibroblasts and adult human epidermal keratinocytes in between layers of collagen [85]. The number of cells per droplet was 68  $\pm$  13 for keratinocytes and 93  $\pm$  13 for fibroblasts. The technique was tested on a polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) mold with 3D surface contours as a target substrate to demonstrate the ability to print and culture multi-layered cell-hydrogel composites on a non-planar surface. The epidermis was dense and formed tight junctions with neighboring cells composing an effective barrier. Further studies confirmed the advantages of bioprinting such as retention of tissue shape, flexibility, and reproducibility [86]. Quílez et al. produced skin tissue using human plasma-derived fibrin matrix populated with human fibroblasts and human keratinocytes [87]. The structure and function were analyzed in immunodeficient athymic mice. Another study by Rimann et al. involved a PEG-based approach using the microvalve droplet system [88]. Alternating layers of PEG-based bioink and fibroblasts were deposited to print a scaffold at 20 °C. Each layer of the bioink was immediately polymerized upon exposure to ultraviolet light. DNA damaged due to UV exposure was guantified by the formation of Cyclobutane Pyrimidine Dimer. However, cell viability before and after printing was similar, indicating insignificant damage to DNA. Over a period of 3 weeks, the cells were fully capable of proliferation and production of ECM. The absence of keratinocytes in the scaffold affected cell distribution and positioning. A comparative study in mice by Yanez et al. showed bioprinted skin tissue to successfully adhere to the wounded site in 14 days whereas a commercial graft dried out and detached from the site [89]. Other bioinks such as alginate, gelatin, fibrinogen, decellularized ECM, or mixtures of multiple biomaterials have also been studied for viability in skin tissue printing [4]. A stem cell-based in situ approach has been tested [90] using amniotic fluid-derived stem cells and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells suspended in fibrinogencollagen solutions, separately. Even though the procedures showed

great promise in coverage and secretion of trophic factors, the printed cells did not integrate with the tissue. Another study demonstrated a 3D bioprinting strategy using an extrusion-based, integrated composite tissue/organ building system (ICBS) [91]. Bioprinting was achieved using fibroblasts and keratinocytes in PCL and collagen-based bioink. Laser-assisted bioprinting techniques have also been successfully tested using alginate bioink, keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and human mesenchymal stem cells [92] and a simple structure using collagen bioink, keratinocytes, and fibroblasts [93].

3.1.2.2. Cardiovascular and cardiac tissue. To promote heart function as well as facilitate cardiac tissue regeneration, the bioprinted cardiac tissue constructs should be mechanically robust yet flexible, contractile, electrophysiologically stable, and most importantly, vascularized [94]. Large tissues and organs incorporate complex vascular networks for optimal oxygen and nutrition supplies, removal of metabolic waste, and therefore sustaining functionality [95]. Researchers have combined general tissue engineering approaches with 3D bioprinting techniques to demonstratein vitro vasculature constructs. The methods include-cell self-assembly to generate vascular constructs, inkjet-based bioprinting of endothelial cells, angiogenic growth factor delivery in bioprinted constructs, coaxial nozzle-assisted extrusion bioprinting of vasculature, and generation of channel-based vascular tissue [96]. The distinct layers of vascular tissue are tunica intima formed with endothelial cells, sub-endothelial fibro-elastic connective tissue, and internal elastic lamina: tunica media primarily consisting of smooth muscle cells and elastin fibers: tunica externa predominantly made of fibro-elastic connective tissue [97]. A scaffold-free, cell self-assembly approach was developed by Norotte et al. using human umbilical vein smooth muscle cells (HUVSMCs), human skin fibroblasts (HSFs), and porcine aortic smooth muscle cells (PASMCs) for small diameter vascular reconstruction. The study was limited by spatial resolution and the thickness of the vascular wall [98]. Another method [99] involved the printing of CaCl<sub>2</sub> as a cross-linking agent into a solution of alginate/gelatin to produce different structures like tubes, branched tubes, hollow cones, and capillaries. Inkjet-based techniques utilizing encapsulation of human microvascular endothelial cells (hMVEC) in fibrin hydrogel [100], Sodium alginate ink with and without the inclusion of NIH-3T3 mouse fibroblasts printed into CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution [101], and other bioinks and methods have been tested. In 2014, Kolesky et al. developed a multi-head extrusion-based bioprinting technique to print 4 different inks with good cell viability [102]. Several other approaches have been utilized to produce printed vascular tissue [103–108]. Bioprinting of vasculature still remains the most critical part of developing organs for transplantation-ensuring cell alignment, maturation, delivery of oxygen and nutrients, and diffusion of growth factors [109].

The innermost layer of the heart chamber and heart valves is the endocardium, primarily consisting of endothelial cells. The outer sac protecting the heart is the double-layered pericardium. Myocardium or cardiac muscle tissue has cardiomyocytes as a major cellular component [110]. These three major cardiac tissues along with the ECM control the functionality of the heart. Human-induced pluripotent stem cell (hiPSC) technology has popularly been utilized for personalized heart tissue engineering [111,112]. Cells deriving from mesenchymal stem cells [113] and decellular-ized structures [114] have also been tested for the production of implantable cardiac patches. Gaetani et al. demonstrated high cell viability using human fetal cardiomyocyte progenitor cells (hCMPC) in EBB, bioprinted alginate, and RGD-modified alginate scaffolds [115]. Another study [116] involved a laser-assisted bioprinting technique to pattern human umbilical vein endothelial cell

(HUVEC) and human mesenchymal stem cell (hiMSC) to fabricate a cardiac patch made from polyester urethane urea (PEUU). Xu et al. printed a half heart shape using cardiomyocytes encapsulated in alginate hydrogel bioink preserving cell viability and contraction in relatively thick constructs [117]. In 2016, Zhang et al. developed an endothelialized-myocardium-on-a-chip method for improved vascularization [118]. Various models for heart valves have also been developed and tested [96]. Even though the current studies are only proof-of-concept, the success indicates an encouraging future for heart transplantation and disease modeling.

3.1.2.3. Neural tissue. Small injuries in the neural tissue of the peripheral nervous system (PNS) may heal and regenerate naturally, whereas larger injuries require surgical care. However, the central nervous system (CNS) is much more complex and barely subject to natural recovery [119]. Due to the substantial chemical and physical inhibitors, autologous grafting for tissue regeneration in the CNS has been particularly hard [120]. Inclusion of supportive ECM components, neurotrophic factors, and bioinks for cell adhesion can make 3D bioprinting a suitable technique for neural tissue regeneration [121].

In 2005, Xu et al. utilized thermal inkjet printing for depositing rat embryonic motoneuron cells suspended in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) achieving moderately high cell viability [122]. The following year further studies were published, conducted with rat primary embryonic hippocampal and cortical neurons as well as an alternate inkjet printing approach of NT2 cells and fibrin gel [123]. The results were mostly positive as the cells maintained their basic function, phenotype, and electrophysiological properties. Cells of the adult rat central nervous system were the first mature neural tissue to be bioprinted with success, using a piezoelectric inkjet printer [124]. A study in an adult zebrafish traumatic brain injury model, Hsieh et al. achieved successful repair of CNS damage using neural stem cells (NSCs) embedded with polyurethane (PU) nanoparticles [125]. A scaffold self-assembly approach with mouse bone marrow stem cells and Schwann cells was developed using an extrusion-based technique by Owens et al. The cells had produced a substantial amount of ECM and over a period of 40 weeks from surgery, the rats recovered both motor and sensory functions [126]. A study of the differentiation potential of human neural stem cells (hNSCs) into neurons was conducted by Zhu et al. after printing the cells using a stereolithography technique with 10% gelatin methacrylamidehydrogel combined with bioactive graphene nanoplatelets [127]. Cell viability, cell distribution, neurites elongation, and neuron differentiation results from this study have indicated an outstanding potential in neural tissue regeneration for clinical purposes.

3.1.2.4. Liver. The liver is involved in essential metabolic functions such as drug metabolism and detoxification [128]. The liver is primarily composed of hepatic lobules and vascular networks. As the function of the liver largely relies on the vascularization, it becomes a major consideration for building transplantable constructs. The liver is predominantly composed of parenchymal hepatocytes. Other cells in the liver include portal fibroblasts, sinusoidal endothelial cells, biliary epithelial cells, hepatic stellate cells, stromal cells, and Kupffer cells [129]. The ECM largely consists of collagen and glycosaminoglycan [130]. In general, the liver has extensive capacity for self-regeneration. However, severe damage caused by specific diseases or injuries requires liver transplantation.

In 2009, Li et al. demonstrated a study of liver tissue regeneration using hepatocytes encapsulated in gelatin, alginate, and chitosan [131]. The same study used adipose-derived stromal tissue in gelatin, alginate, and fibrinogen hydrogel for vasculature construct. Human liver tissue that remained fully functional for up to 28 days was developed using a syringe-based extrusion printer by Robbins et al. [132]. The study had shown great potential for transplantation of bioprinted liver as functions like albumin production, cholesterol biosynthesis, fibrinogen & transferrin production, and inducible cytochrome (CYP) 1A2 and CYP 3A4 activities, were preserved. In 2013, A complete liver model along with complex networks of vascular and biliary structures was successfully bioprinted [133]. Another study employing a laser-assisted LIFT technique for precise deposition of hepatocytes onto a porous collagenglycosaminoglycan scaffold showed significant potential for clinical use [134]. A comparative study between single-cell dispersion of iPS-derived parenchymal cells and using iPS-derived hepatocytelike cells spheroids, both in combination with non-parenchymal cells [135]. The study demonstrated the advantages of spheroidbased bioprinting for liver tissue construction. Ahn et al. had utilized preosteoblast cells, human adipose-derived stem cells, and alginate, cultured using a hepatogenic medium for successful expression of liver-specific genes ALB and TDO2 over a period of 27 days. Ma et al. have produced a hexagonal 3D liver model using a mixture of GelMA and hyaluronic acid with human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived hepatic progenitor cells (hiPSC-HPCs). Human umbilical vein endothelial cells and adipose-derived stem cells were used as support at spaces in-between hexagons [136]. Several other efforts have been taken to regenerate liver tissues using bioprinting techniques [137].

3.1.2.5. Endocrine glands. Whereas the nervous system deals with quick, short term responses to control physiological activities, the endocrine system regulates long-term metabolic activities. Endocrine cells of the endocrine glands release hormones to transfer information between cells and control metabolic activity [138].

The thyroid gland secretes thyroid hormone which controls the basal metabolic rate, controls the growth and development of tissues, and regulates blood pressure [139]. Bulanova et al. bioprinted a functional vascularized mouse thyroid gland construct from embryonic thyroid spheroids and allantoic spheroids in collagen hydrogel using a self-assembly approach [140]. Right behind the thyroid gland, four small glands collectively called parathyroid glands monitor and regulate blood calcium levels [141]. Tonsilderived mesenchymal stem cells (TMSC) were demonstrated by Park et al. to have the capability of differentiating into functional cells and tissues of the parathyroid glands [142]. Further work has been carried out for the development of parathyroid tissue [143,144].

The endocrine component of the pancreas consists of islet cells. Two major types of cells, alpha & beta, produce the hormones glucagon and insulin, respectively [145]. Both of these regulate blood glucose levels. Hormones secreted by other hormoneproducing cells of the pancreas include somatostatin, vasoactive intestinal peptide, substance P, gastrin, pancreatic polypeptide, ghrelin, etc. [139]. The use of 3D bioprinting for the encapsulation of pancreatic islets has the potential for therapeutic use in a transplantable level [146].

Other endocrine glands have also been tested for regeneration using bioprinting techniques. For example, Leydig cells of gonad or the reproductive organ have been studied for encapsulation and transplantation using biocompatible polylactic acid and polyvinylpyrrolidone-based plasma for increased vascularization [147]. More studies for the bioprinting of gonad have utilized theca and granulosa cells in micro-molded agarose gel [148], ovarian follicles [149], etc. Among others, adrenal glands have also studied for tissue engineering using bioprinting [150,151].

3.1.2.6. Other tissues and organs. Bioprinting technology has been evaluated for implementation in the regeneration of many other

types of soft tissues and organs. One such example is **skeletal muscles and tendons** which provide structural support and contribute in motion. Skeletal muscles are essentially made of myoblasts whereas tendons mainly consist of collagen ECM and a few embedded tenocytes [152]. Various biomaterials have been utilized by different research groups for the development of such tissue [97,153]. Renal tubular tissue of the **kidney** has also been studied for construction using bioprinting [4,154]. Studies for the development of **ear, nose, and throat** tissues have also been carried out [73]. Currently available procedures for the transplantation of human corneal tissue are limited by the quality of visual recovery. Several studies have been conducted for the development of **corneal tissue** [155]. Other types of tissues under research for bioprinting include **airway** [156–158], **lungs** [159], **adipose tissue** [57,160], etc.

#### 3.2. Drug delivery and screening

In regenerative medicine, bioprinting technology has been employed to develop tissues and organs as well as to deliver growth factors and other essentials for vasculature formation. A similar technique can be utilized for the delivery of drugs as an alternative to the oral delivery of conventional medication. The bioinks or hydrogels used for bioprinting have the potential to hold great amounts of drugs and growth factors while releasing them at a relatively slow rate at the target site. It also holds the ability to produce personalized drugs. Crosslinking of the biomaterials plays a significant role in drug release [161]. Tappa et al. applied an extrusion bioprinting technology to print patient-specific intrauterine devices loaded with estrogen and progesterone in different sizes and designs [162]. For this study, PCL pellets were loaded with the hormones enveloped in silicone oil. Martinez et al. fabricated ibuprofen-loaded hydrogel-polyethylene glycol diacrylate (PEGDA) and polyethylene glycol (PEG300) [163]. A printing process was developed by Genina et al. for the combination therapy of two drugs-rifampicin and isoniazid. The results have shown improved treatment efficacy [164]. In addition to drugs and growth factor delivery, bioprinting can potentially provide an efficient and viable medium for gene therapy [165].

3D bioprinting allows the construction of reliable models of human tissues that can mimic natural conditions, which makes it ideal for the development of drugs through drug screening and toxicology analysis in bioprinted tissue models. In order to obtain an accurate architecture and environment in the tissue model, cell types & origin, biomaterials & hydrogel, and printing techniques have to be carefully selected according to the original site of drug delivery [166]. To test drug efficacy and toxicity, several experimental tissue models with different cells, ECMs, and architectures have been developed. Some of these have also been commercially implemented. The influence of differentiation factors on chondrogenicity in cartilage tissue development has been studied using inkjet printing with primary human articular chondrocytes poly (ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate (PEGDMA) hydrogel [167]. In another study, cell-laden hyaluronic acid-PEG microfibers were printed onto a Matrigel matrix for the analysis of cellular behavior and interactions in different cell types upon treatment with a Rhoassociated protein kinase (ROCK) inhibitor Y27632 and cadherin antibody [168]. Angiogenic-specific gene CD105 activity was found to be downregulated when exposed to Y27632. Additionally, hMSCs showed higher expression of angiogenic markers such as CD31 or CD105. Further studies have been conducted by the same research group on ROCK inhibition [169]. A scaffold-free liver tissue model was constructed using primary hepatocytes, stellate cells, and endothelial cells for experimental assessment of the toxicity of two drugs-levofloxacin and trovafloxacin [170]. The printed tissue

maintained cell viability for up to 42 days while developing microcapillaries, liver proteins like albumin, fibrinogen.

#### 3.3. Tumor modeling

Creating a tumor microenvironment through 3D bioprinting in which tumor cells interact with adjacent stromal cells such as endothelial cells and fibroblasts and an extracellular matrix. serves as a precise model for studying tumor progression, monitoring, and drug response. The conventional approach for tumor or cancer modeling is through either monolayer cell cultures or in animals. However, monolayer cultures lack the complex interactions occurring in natural tissue. Animal models on the other hand may differ from the behavior and response of human tissue. Intracellular molecular interactions, intercellular interactions, enzyme kinetics, changes in protein expression, metastatic progression, etc. [171] can be interpreted using a bioprinted tumor models for specific tissues. Zhou et al. studied the metastasis of breast cancer in bone tissue by developing biomimetic bone constructs through a tabletop commercial stereolithographic printer. The study aimed to produce a cell-laden 3D structure of bone tissue and observe the interactions after breast cancer cells (BrCas) were seeded, in vitro [172]. Another study bioprinted a mini-brain to demonstrate the interactions between Glioblastoma-associated macrophages and glioblastoma cells during the progression of glioblastoma multiforme [173]. The results of this study indicated that therapeutics can be developed to inhibit the interactions between these cells in order to reduce tumor growth.

One of the major complexities associated with cancer modeling is recreating the angiogenesis of tumor cells due to the lack of vascular networks. Angiogenesis is a key step in cancer progression as the transportation of nutrients and oxygen to the cells is essential [189]. As discussed before, vasculature can be developed using bioprinting techniques with the right bioinks& growth factors can be introduced for further maturation. Potentially, To understand cell-cell interactions and the influence microenvironment factors in glioblastoma multiforme, Lee et al. printed a physiological glioma-vascular niche model using human endothelial cells and patient-derived GBM cells in a collagen matrix [176]. They developed fluidic vascular channels with collagen and gelatin. A recent work by Suarez-Martinez et al. observed cancer cell migration, proliferation, and function during microvascular network growth in a bioprinted tumor microenvironment model of mouse breast cancer cells [190]. Another recent work by Hynes et al. [191] provided a new approach to comprehend cancer metastasis through the development of a bioprinted hydrogelbased vascular flow device.

Commonly used drugs for the treatment of cancer often come with side effects such as bone marrow suppression, gastrointestinal reaction, digestive system toxicity, liver toxicity, urinary system toxicity, renal toxicity, cardiotoxicity, and neurotoxicity [166]. Bioprinted breast cancer cells encapsulated in the peptide-conjugated alginate fibers and macrophages within the channels were subject to heterotypic interactions drugs to evaluate drug efficacy and toxicityb [181]. Another bioprinted model, HER2-positive breast cancer cells encapsulated in adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (ADMSCs) were used to assess doxorubicin and study drug resistance [192]. A biomimetic ECM consisting of MSC-derived mammary fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and adipose cells was used to evaluate the chemotherapeutic effects of tamoxifen in breast cancer [193]. The drug response was assessed by adenosine triphosphate (ATP) luciferase assay. Anti-cancer drug temozolomide (TMZ) and angiogenic inhibitor sunitinib were assessed in a tumor microenvironment printed by Han et al. The printed tissue contained multicellular tumor spheroids of glioblastoma cells on a blood vessel layer consisting of fibroblasts and endothelial cells [194]. In another recent study, a Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cell model was constructed by Sun et al. using HepG2 cells with the aim of drug pharmacodynamics research [195].

As the bioprinting techniques develop further, producing more complex biological systems and studying disease interactions not only on a cellular level but also on the surrounding tissue will soon be possible [196].

## 4. Bioprinting: present and future

## 4.1. Recent advances and challenges

One of the most promising advances in 3D bioprinting has to be the several approaches for the development of microvascular networks in printed tissues and organs. Human tissue and organs are part of a complex system that requires the flow of blood and lymph, nutrients and oxygen, and the removal of metabolic waste. The experimental small scale studies can only be useful in practical human transplantation through the maturation of proper vascular networks. The established and ongoing studies on vasculature development pave the way for surgical transplantation of bioprinted tissues and organs. One prominent example for that would be the "CT-bone" which is a 3D printed bone made out of calcium phosphate which is the natural makeup of bones. The CT bone can be specifically made for people with facial deformities due to trauma, diseases or cancer. The artificially created CT-bone can be transplanted to human to augment their deformities without any lose of function or other issues and this process is termed the maxillofacial reconstruction [197]. Moreover, important factors in cancer progression such as angiogenesis are also being analyzed using tissue models with microvasculature. Printing in high resolution is being focused to achieve improved vascularization [198]. In addition, Bioink compositions, cross-linking, bioprinting processes, and design specifications are being investigated by researchers for better control of shape and retention of function [199]. In a recent study, to improve cell survival for transplantation, researchers have developed a GelMAbioink utilizing calcium peroxide for controlled oxygen release [200]. This shows great promise in enhancing cell viabilities and aiding in vascularization. Bioprinting is taking another step forward as studies progress towards the popularization of in situ/in vivo bioprinting. In vivo printing is the minimally invasive direct bioprinting at injured or affected sites in living tissues and organs [201]. In vivo bioprinting is still in an emerging state, however, studies have been conducted for the regeneration of skin, bone, and cartilage in vivo. Chen et al. developed a non-invasive technique for in vivo bioprinting of skin tissue [202]. An in situ in vivo bioprinting concept was proposed by a research team, using the microbots approach [203]. In the study, a subminiature bioprinter was developed by constructing a Delta robot, which can be endoscopically installed to repair gastric wounds. This innovative and futuristic study truly paves the way for future research in the field. Organ-on-a-chip systems utilizing 3D bioprinting are gaining popularity for the construction of physiological models [204,205]. These are small-scale models mimicking tissue and microvascular networks. Bioprinting-based organ-on-achip can be a viable means for drug testing. More recently, techniques for 4D bioprinting is freshly gaining attention. 4D bioprinting method utilizes 3D printing techniques but expands the biomedical applications as the constructs can change with time through external stimuli [206]. Another emerging field in the applications of bioprinting is soft robotics [55].

However, advances in technology often come with more challenges. One of the major challenges is the discrepencies that exist in the application of bioprinting in small animals and large animals. Firstly, one of the limitations that the transplantation of the tissues fabricated from bioprinting are limited to small animals. The possibility of the bioink's molecular properties contradicting with that of the large animal morphology is completely plausible. For example, currently, translation of the bioprinted products and their transplantation is restricted to murine models which are physiologically different from humans. Therefore, the transplantations that successful in the murine models may not be scalable and hence successful in the human trials. This is seen where transplantation of pancreatic tissues containing bioprinted islets are successful in regulating insulin secretion in diabetic murins which have an approximate amount of 10,000 times smaller pancreas than that of a human pancreas. Therefore, the main challenge lies in the scalability and the concurrent changes that may occure due to upscaling [207]. On the other hand, another challenge remains in the development of appropriate **bioinks** to coordinate cell-material interactions. Balancing the printability of bioink with cell viability and function for precise and accurate model construction is crucial. Mechanical, structural, and geometrical properties of the tissue as well as biological activities of the tissue need to be preserved in the bioink [40]. For that purpose, a combination of natural and synthetic polymers is often tested whereby synthetic polymers can provide structural integrity and natural components mimic the biochemical environment. Shear stress can affect the stability of the bioink thus the selection of techniques requires sensitive protocols. Alongside all of these considerations, bioinks must be biocompatible and biodegradable to avoid long term reactions to residual components in tissue engineering applications [19]. Processes like SLA and laser-assisted bioprinting provide high resolution, however, the biomaterial options are limited. The development of next-generation bioinks addresses some of the common concerns associated with biomaterial selection [208,209]. Another challenge is cell sourcing for the construction of bioprinted tissue. To achieve the heterogeneous tissue construct through bioprinting, primary cells are often pre-harvested in vitro [210]. Applications concerning transplantation seek the primary cells from the patient to prevent an immune response. For the practical implementation of *in vivo*tissue bioprinting, integration between native and engineered tissue is imperative [211]. That can be achieved by the introduction of growth factors and vascular network development. Replicating the complex hierarchical structure of vascular networks is still under development. Following the current progress, it may be possible to generate capillary beds or large vessels for integration during tissue implantation. Processing time, scaling up, automation, and costeffectiveness (e.g. laser-assisted bioprinting), etc. still need improvement [212,213]. Apart from these technical challenges, 3D bioprinting also faces several ethical concerns relating to its possible impacts on humans [214].

#### 4.2. Future opportunities

The future of regenerative medicine and healthcare will be heavily influenced by 3D and possibly 4D bioprinting. In the near future, human-scale &stable tissue and organ transplantation may be clinically applied with the incorporation of proper vascular networks, tissue environment, cell viability, biocompatibility, and functionality. Moreover, through the implementation of 3D bioprinting, there can be a paradigm shift in conventional pre-clinical and clinical drug trial procedures. Furthermore, based on the organ-on-chip models, human-on-a-chip models may be developed to evaluate drug reactions in more than one organ at a time [215]. This could also provide a better understanding of interconnected vascular networks and system functions. For stronger interpretations of the tests using bioprinting, advanced 3D microscopy, genetic and protein assays, culture systems such as bioreactors, and noninvasive monitoring systems need to be improved. In the future bioprinting may also aid diabetic patients through printing pancreas islet tissues overcoming the barriers of immune responses [216]. Besides, pharmacodynamics and drug toxicology studies may set the scene for personalized medicines and therapies. By means of the construction of human-on-a-chip, a superior understanding of the motor functions of the nervous system could be possible in time. Neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's disease, Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis, and Parkinson's disease could be studied more thoroughly to develop treatment options in the fullness of time. Further advancement of electrical signal transformation in hydrogels may aid in composing a more comprehensive study of the diseases of electrically active organs. Overall, the possibilities are endless with using bioprinting for developing human tissue and organs, understanding disease mechanisms, evaluating drugs and treatments, etc. Non-clinical applications of bioprinting may also be significantly rising, for example, in the development of soft robotics.

## 5. Conclusion

Bioprinting is a rapidly expanding area of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine that targets to mimic the intricacies of natural tissues and networks. Significant development of groundwork has laid the foundation for the employment of 3D bioprinting in healthcare and therapeutic use. Starting from the regeneration of skin and bone to the successful experimental reconstruction of organized contractile tissues like skeletal muscle tissue, cardiac tissue, complex organs like liver, kidney, etc. establishes the potential of bioprinting. More research is under progression to overcome challenges such as biomaterial selection, bioink design, printing method optimization, enhanced vascularization, and scaling up. With further improvement of the controlled spatial distribution of cells, mechanical properties, and stability, this technology will create greater opportunities for understanding organ systems, producing transplantable tissues and organs, drug development & screening, and cancer research. Subsequently, biomedical science as we know it may be restructured.

#### **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors have declared no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Singh S, Choudhury D, Yu F, Mironov V, Naing MW. In situ bioprinting bioprinting from benchside to bedside? Acta Biomater 2020;101:14–25.
- [2] Vyas D, Udyawar D. A review on current state of art of bioprinting. In: Kumar L, Pandey P, Wimpenny D, editors. 3D printing and additive manufacturing technologies. Singapore: Springer; 2019. p. 195–201.
- [3] Yilmaz B, Tahmasebifar A, Baran ET. Bioprinting technologies in tissue engineering. In: Silva A, Moreira J, Lobo J, Almeida H, editors. Current applications of pharmaceutical biotechnology. Cham: Springer; 2019. p. 279–319.
- [4] Cho DW, Kim BS, Jang J, Gao G, Han W, Singh N. 3D bioprinting: modeling in vitro tissues and organs using tissue-specific bioinks. 1st ed. Cham: Springer; 2019.
- [5] Skardal A, Atala A. Biomaterials for integration with 3-D bioprinting. Ann Biomed Eng 2014;43(3):730–46.
- [6] Richards D, Jia J, Yost M, Markwald R, Mei Y. 3D bioprinting for vascularized tissue fabrication. Ann Biomed Eng 2017;45(1):132–47.
- [7] Merceron TK, Murphy SV. Hydrogels for 3D bioprinting applications. In: Atala A, Yoo JJ, editors. Essentials of 3D biofabrication and translation. Academic Press; 2015. p. 249–70.
- [8] Mobaraki M, Ghaffari M, Yazdanpanah A, Luo Y, Mills DK. Bioinks and bioprinting: a focused review. Bioprinting 2020.
- [9] Hospodiuk M, Moncal K, Dey M, Ozbolat I. Extrusion-based biofabrication in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. In: Ovsianikov A, Yoo J, Mironov V, editors. 3D printing and biofabrication. Cham: Springer; 2018. p. 255–81.

- [10] Osidak E, Kozhukhov V, Osidak M, Domogatskiy S. Collagen as bioink for bioprinting: a comprehensive review. Int J Bioprint April 2020;6(3):270.
- [11] Camacho P, Busari H, Seims KB, Chow JW, Tolbert LW. Materials as bioinks and bioink design. In: Guvendiren M, editor. 3D bioprinting in medicine. Cham: Springer; 2019. p. 67–100.
- [12] Abelardo E. Synthetic material bioinks. In: Thomas DJ, Jessop ZM, Whitaker IS, editors. 3D bioprinting for reconstructive surgery. Woodhead Publishing; 2018. p. 137–44.
- [13] Liu W, Zhang Y, Heinrich M, Ferrari F, Jang H, Bakht S, et al. Rapid continuous multimaterial extrusion bioprinting. Adv Mater 2017;29(3). https://doi.org/ 10.1002/adma.201604630.
- [14] Chimene D, Kaunas R, Gaharwar AK. Hydrogel bioink reinforcement for additive manufacturing: a focused review of emerging strategies. Adv Mater 2019;32(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201902026.
- [15] Chimene D, Lennox K, Kaunas R, Gaharwar AK. Advanced bioinks for 3D printing: a materials science perspective. Ann Biomed Eng 2016;44: 2090–102.
- [16] Janarthanan G, Noh I. Recent trends in bioinks for 3D printing. Biomater Res 2018;22:11.
- [17] Datta P, Barui A, Wu Y, Ozbolat V, Moncal KK, Ozbolat IT. Essential steps in bioprinting: from pre- to post-bioprinting. Biotechnol Adv 2018;36(5): 1481–504.
- [18] Highley CB. 3D bioprinting technologies. In: Guvendiren M, editor. 3D bioprinting in medicine. 1 ed. Springer International Publishing; 2019. p. 1–66.
- [19] Deo KA, Singh KA, Peak CW, Alge DL, Gaharwar AK. Bioprinting 101: design, fabrication and evaluation of cell-laden 3D bioprinted scaffolds. Tissue Eng Part A February 2020;26(5–6):318–38.
- [20] He Y, Gu Z, Xie M, Fu J, Lin H. Why choose 3D bioprinting? Part II: methods and bioprinters. Bio-Des Manuf 2020;3:1–4.
- [21] Gudapati H, Dey M, Ozbolat I. A comprehensive review on droplet-based bioprinting: past, present and future. Biomaterials 2016;102:20–42.
- [22] Betz JF, Ho VB, Gaston JD. 3D bioprinting and its application to military medicine. Military Med June 2020;185(9–10):e1510–9.
- [23] Xu T, Zhao W, Zhu J-M, Albanna MZ, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Complex heterogeneous tissue constructs containing multiple cell types prepared by inkjet printing technology. Biomaterials 2013;34(1):130–9.
- [24] Singh M, Haverinen HM, Dhagat P, Jabbour GE. Inkjet printing—process and its applications. Adv Mater 2010;22(6):673–85.
- [25] Li X, Chen J, Liu B, Wang X, Ren D, Xu T. Inkjet printing for biofabrication. In: 3D printing and biofabrication; 2018. p. 283–301.
- [26] Saunders RE, Derby B. Inkjet printing biomaterials for tissue engineering: bioprinting. Int Mater Rev 2014;59(8):430–48.
- [27] Nakamura M. Reconstruction of biological three-dimensional tissues. In: Ringeisen B, Spargo B, Wu P, editors. Cell and organ printing. Dordrecht: Springer; 2010. p. 23–33.
- [28] Gasperini L, Maniglio D, Migliaresi C. Microencapsulation of cells in alginate through an electrohydrodynamic process. J Bioact Compat Polym 2013;28(5):413-25.
- [29] Onses M, Sutanto E, Ferreira PM, Alleyne A, Rogers JA. Mechanisms, capabilities, and applications of high-resolution electrohydrodynamic jet printing. Small 2015;11(34):4237–66.
- [30] An S, Lee MW, Kim NY, Lee C, Al-Deyab SS, James S, et al. Effect of viscosity, electrical conductivity, and surface tension on direct-current-pulsed dropon-demand electrohydrodynamic printing frequency. Appl Phys Lett 2014;105(21):214102.
- [31] Demirci U, Montesano G. Single cell epitaxy by acoustic picolitre droplets. Lab Chip 2007;7(9):1139–45.
- [32] Faulkner-Jones A, Greenhough S, King JA, Gardner J, Courtney A, Shu W. Development of a valve-based cell printer for the formation of human embryonic stem cell spheroid aggregates. Biofabrication 2013;5(1):015013.
- [33] Hölzl K, Lin S, Tytgat L, Vlierberghe S, Gu L, Ovsianikov A. Bioink properties before, during and after 3D bioprinting. Biofabrication 2016;8(3):032002.
- [34] Devillard R, Pagès E, Correa MM, Kériquel V, Rémy M, Kalisky J, et al. Cell patterning by laser-assisted bioprinting. In: Piel M, Théry M, editors. Methods in cell biology. Elsevier; 2014. p. 159–74.
- [35] Hopp B, Smausz T, Kresz N, Barna N, Bor Z, Kolozsvári L, et al. Survival and proliferative ability of various living cell types after laser-induced forward transfer. Tissue Eng 2005;11:1817–23.
- [36] Xiong R, Zhang Z, Chai W, Chrisey DB, Huang Y. Study of gelatin as an effective energy absorbing layer for laser bioprinting. Biofabrication 2017;9(2).
- [37] Theus AS, Ning L, Hwang B, Gil C, Chen S, Wombwell A, et al. Bioprintability: physiomechanical and biological requirements of materials for 3D bioprinting processes. Polymers 2020;12(10):2.
- [38] Landers R, Hübner U, Schmelzeisen R, Mülhaupt R. Rapid prototyping of scaffolds derived from thermoreversible hydrogels and tailored for applications in tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2002;23(23):4437–47.
- [39] Gurkan UA, Assal RE, Yildiz SE, Sung Y, Trachtenberg AJ, Kuo WP, et al. Engineering anisotropic biomimetic fibrocartilage microenvironment by bioprinting mesenchymal stem cells in nanoliter gel droplets. Mol Pharm 2014;11(7):2151–9.
- [40] Gu Z, Fu J, Lin H, He Y. Development of 3D bioprinting: from printing methods to biomedical applications. Asian J Pharm Sci 2019;15(5):529–57.
- [41] Khalil S, Nam J, Sun W. Multi-nozzle deposition for construction of 3-D biopolymer tissue scaffolds. Rapid Prototyp J 2005;11(1):9–17.

- [42] Dababneh AB, Ozbolat IT. Bioprinting technology: a current state-of-the-art review. J Manuf Sci E-T ASME 2014;136(6):061016.
- [43] Willson K, Ke D, Kengla C, Atala A, Murphy S. Extrusion-based bioprinting: current standards and relevancy for human-sized tissue fabrication. In: Crook J, editor. 3D bioprinting. New York: Humana; 2020. p. 65–92.
- [44] Fielding G, Bandyopadhyay A, Bose S. Effects of silica and zinc oxide doping on mechanical and biological properties of 3D printed tricalcium phosphate tissue engineering scaffolds. Dent Mater 2011;28(2):113–22.
- [45] Bedell ML, Navara AM, Du Y, Zhang S, Mikos AG. Polymeric systems for bioprinting. Chem Rev 2020;120(19):10744–92.
- [46] Nakamura M, Iwanaga S, Henmi C, Arai K, Nishiyama Y. Biomatrices and biomaterials for future developments of bioprinting and biofabrication. Biofabrication 2010;2(1):014110.
- [47] Liu W, Heinrich MA, Zhou Y, Akpek A, Hu N, Liu X, et al. Extrusion bioprinting of shear-thinning gelatin methacryloyl bioinks. Adv Healthc Mater 2017.
  [48] Seol YJ, Kang HW, Lee SJ, Atala A, Yoo JJ. Bioprinting technology and its
- [48] Seol YJ, Kang HW, Lee SJ, Atala A, Yoo JJ. Bioprinting technology and its applications. Eur J Cardio Thorac Surg 2014;46(3):342–8.
- [49] Skoog S, Goering P, Narayan R. Stereolithography in tissue engineering. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2014;25(3):845-56.
- [50] Kumar H, Kim K. Stereolithography 3D bioprinting. In: Crook J, editor. 3D bioprinting. New York: Humana; 2020. p. 93–108.
- [51] Mondschein RJ, Kanitkar A, Williams CB, Verbridge SS, Long T. Polymer structure-property requirements for stereolithographic 3D printing of soft tissue engineering scaffolds. Biomaterials 2017;140:170–88.
- [52] Wang Z, Abdulla R, Parker B, Samanipour R, Ghosh S, Kim K. A simple and high-resolution stereolithography-based 3D bioprinting system using visible light crosslinkable bioinks. Biofabrication 2015;7(4):045009.
- [53] Rider P, Kačarević ŽP, Retnasingh S, Alkildani S, Jung O, Barbeck M. 3D bioprinting. In: Biomaterials in regenerative medicine; 2018.
- [54] Kent C. How long before bioprinting replaces the need for donor organs? [Online]. Available: https://www.medicaldevice-network.com/features/ bioprinting-replace-donor-organs/; 2 March 2020.
- [55] Thayer P, Martinez H, Gatenholm E. History and trends of 3D bioprinting. In: Crook J, editor. 3D bioprinting. New York: Humana; 2020. p. 3–18.
- [56] Gillispie GJ, Park J, Copus JS, Asari AKPR, Yoo JJ, Atala A, et al. Threedimensional tissue and organ printing in regenerative medicine. In: Atala A, Lanza R, Mikos AG, Nerem R, editors. Principles of regenerative medicine. Elsevier; 2019, p. 831–52.
- [57] Tasnim N, Vega LD, Kumar SA, Abelseth L, Alonzo M, Amereh M, et al. 3D bioprinting stem cell derived tissues. Cell Mol Bioeng 2018;11:219–40.
- [58] Gao G, Cui X. Three-dimensional bioprinting in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Biotechnol Lett 2016;38(2):203–11.
- [59] Daly AC, Critchley SE, Rencsok EM, Kelly DJ. A comparison of different bioinks for 3D bioprinting of fibrocartilage and hyaline cartilage. Biofabrication 2016;8(4):045002.
- [60] Park S, Jung CS, Min B. Advances in three-dimensional bioprinting for hard tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;13:622–35.
- [61] Fedorovich NE, Wijnberg HM, Dhert WJA, Alblas J. Distinct tissue formation by heterogeneous printing of osteo- and endothelial progenitor cells. Tissue Eng 2011;17:2113–21.
- [62] Xu T, Binder KW, Albanna MZ, Dice D, Zhao W, Yoo JJ, et al. Hybrid printing of mechanically and biologically improved constructs for cartilage tissue engineering applications. Biofabrication 2013;5(1):015001.
- [63] Cui X, Boland T, D'Lima DD, Lotz MK. Thermal inkjet printing in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Recent Pat Drug Deliv Formulation 2012;6(2):149–55.
- [64] Cui X, Breitenkamp K, Finn MG, Lotz M, D'Lima DD. Direct human cartilage repair using three-dimensional bioprinting technology. Tissue Eng 2012;18: 1304–12.
- [65] Hung BP, Naved BA, Nyberg EL, Dias M, Holmes CA, Elisseeff JH, et al. Threedimensional printing of bone extracellular matrix for craniofacial regeneration. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2(10):1806–16.
- [66] O'Connell CD, Bella C, Thompson F, Augustine C, Beirne S, Cornock R, et al. Development of the Biopen: a handheld device for surgical printing of adipose stem cells at a chondral wound site. Biofabrication 2016;8(1):015019.
- [67] Dhariwala B, Hunt E, Boland T. Rapid prototyping of tissue-engineering constructs, using photopolymerizable hydrogels and stereolithography. Tissue Eng 2004;10:1316–22.
- [68] Lu Y, Mapili G, Suhali G, Chen S, Roy K. A digital micro-mirror device-based system for the microfabrication of complex, spatially patterned tissue engineering scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res 2006;77(2):396–405.
- [69] Zhou X, Castro NJ, Zhu W, Cui H, Aliabouzar M, Sarkar K, et al. Improved human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell osteogenesis in 3D bioprinted tissue scaffolds with low intensity pulsed ultrasound stimulation. Sci Rep 2016;6:32876.
- [70] Kawecki F, Clafshenkel WP, Auger FA, Bourget J-M, Fradette J, Devillard R. Self-assembled human osseous cell sheets as living biopapers for the laserassisted bioprinting of human endothelial cells. Biofabrication 2018;10(3): 035006.
- [71] Sun Y, You Y, Jiang W, Wang B, Wu Q, Dai K. 3D bioprinting dual-factor releasing and gradient-structured constructs ready to implant for anisotropic cartilage regeneration. Sci Adv 2020;6.
- [72] Dawood A, Marti B, Sauret-Jackson V, Darwood A. 3D printing in dentistry. Br Dent J 2015;219(11):521–9.

- [73] Foerster A, Cantu LR, Wildman R, Tuck C. Current market for biomedical implants. In: Devine D, editor. Polymer-based additive manufacturing. Cham: Springer; 2019. p. 97–119.
- [74] Obregon F, Vaquette C, Ivanovski S, Hutmacher DW, Bertassoni LE. Threedimensional bioprinting for regenerative dentistry and craniofacial tissue engineering. J Dent Res 2015;94(9 Suppl):1435–525.
- [75] Han J, Kim DS, Jang H, Kim H, Kang H. Bioprinting of three-dimensional dentin-pulp complex with local differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells. J Tissue Eng 2019;10:2041731419845849.
- [76] Ma Y, Ji Y, Huang G, Ling K, Zhang X, Xu F. Bioprinting 3D cell-laden hydrogel microarray for screening human periodontal ligament stem cell response to extracellular matrix. Biofabrication 2015;7(4):044105.
- [77] Kim SE, Shim KM, Jang K, Shim J, Kang SS. Three-dimensional printing-based reconstruction of a maxillary bone defect in a dog following tumor removal. In Vivo 2018;32(1):63–70.
- [78] Kanitakis J. Anatomy, histology and immunohistochemistry of normal human skin. Eur J Dermatol 2001;12(4):390–9.
- [79] Böttcher-Haberzeth S, Biedermann T, Reichmann E. Tissue engineering of skin. Burns 2010;36(4):450–60.
- [80] MacNeil S. Progress and opportunities for tissue-engineered skin. Nature 2007;445(7130):874-80.
- [81] Boyce ST, Lalley AL. TIssue engineering of skin and regenerative medicine for wound care. Burns Trauma 2018;6:4.
- [82] Varkey M, Visscher DO, Zuijlen PPM, Atala A, Yoo JJ. Skin bioprinting: the future of burn wound reconstruction? Burns Trauma 2019;7:4.
- [83] Albanna M, Binder KW, Murphy SV, Kim J, Qasem SA, Zhao W, et al. In situ bioprinting of autologous skin cells accelerates wound healing of extensive excisional full-thickness wounds. Sci Rep 2019;9:1856.
- [84] Randall MJ, Jüngel A, Rimann M, Wuertz-Kozak K. Advances in the biofabrication of 3D skin in vitro: healthy and pathological models. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2018;6:154.
- [85] Lee W, Debasitis JC, Lee VK, Lee J, Fischer K, Edminster K, et al. Multi-layered culture of human skin fibroblasts and keratinocytes through threedimensional freeform fabrication. Biomaterials 2009;30(8):1587–95.
- [86] Lee V, Singh G, Trasatti JP, Bjornsson C, Xu X, Tran TN, et al. Design and fabrication of human skin by three-dimensional bioprinting. Tissue Eng C Methods 2014;20(6):473–84.
- [87] Quílez C, Izuzquiza GA, García M, López V, Montero A, Valencia L, et al. Bioprinting for skin. In: Crook J, editor. 3D bioprinting. New York: Humana; 2020. p. 217–28.
- [88] Rimann M, Bono E, Annaheim H, Bleisch M, Graf-Hausner U. Standardized 3D bioprinting of soft tissue models with human primary cells. J Lab Autom 2016;21(4):496–509.
- [89] Yanez M, Rincon J, Dones A, Maria CD, Gonzales R, Boland T. In Vivo assessment of printed microvasculature in a bilayer skin graft to treat fullthickness wounds. Tissue Eng 2015;21:224–33.
- [90] Skardal A, Mack D, Kapetanovic E, Atala A, Jackson JD, Yoo J, et al. Bioprinted amniotic fluid-derived stem cells accelerate healing of large skin wounds. Stem Cells Transl Med 2012;1(11):792–802.
- [91] Kim BS, Lee J, Gao G, Cho DW. Direct 3D cell-printing of human skin with functional transwell system. Biofabrication 2017;9(2):025034.
- [92] Koch L, Kuhn S, Sorg H, Gruene M, Schlie S, Gaebel R, et al. Laser printing of skin cells and human stem cells. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2009;16(5): 847–54.
- [93] Michael S, Sorg H, Peck CT, Koch L, Deiwick A, Chichkov B, et al. Tissue engineered skin substitutes created by laser-assisted bioprinting form skinlike structures in the dorsal skin fold chamber in mice. PloS One 2013;8(3): e57741.
- [94] Zimmermann WH, Melnychenko I, Eschenhagen T. Engineered heart tissue for regeneration of diseased hearts. Biomaterials 2004;25(9):1639–47.
- [95] Zhang YS, Yue K, Aleman J, Mollazadeh-Moghaddam K, Bakht SM, Yang J, et al. 3D bioprinting for tissue and organ fabrication. Ann Biomed Eng 2017;45(1):148–63.
- [96] Duan B. State-of-the-Art review of 3D bioprinting for cardiovascular tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng 2017;45(1):195–209.
- [97] Boyd-Moss M, Fox K, Brandt M, Nisbet D, Williams R. Bioprinting and biofabrication with peptide and protein biomaterials. Adv Exp Med Biol 2017;1030:95–129.
- [98] Norotte C, Marga FS, Niklason LE, Forgacs G. Scaffold-free vascular tissue engineering using bioprinting. Biomaterials 2009;30(30):5910–7.
- [99] Boland T, Tao X, Damon BJ, Manley B, Kesari P, Jalota S, et al. Drop-on-demand printing of cells and materials for designer tissue constructs. Mater Sci Eng C 2007.
- [100] Cui X, Boland T. Human microvasculature fabrication using thermal inkjet printing technology. Biomaterials 2009;30(31):6221–7.
- [101] Christensen K, Xu C, Chai W, Zhang Z, Fu J, Huang Y. Freeform inkjet printing of cellular structures with bifurcations. Biotechnol Bioeng 2015;112(5): 1047–55.
- [102] Kolesky DB, Truby RL, Gladman AS, Busbee TA, Homan KA, Lewis JA. 3D bioprinting of vascularized, heterogeneous cell-laden tissue constructs. Adv Mater 2014;26(19):3124–30.
- [103] Jakab K, Norotte C, Damon B, Marga F, Neagu A, Besch-Williford CL, et al. Tissue engineering by self-assembly of cells printed into topologically defined structures. Tissue Eng 2008;14(3):413–21.

- [104] Guillotin B, Souquet A, Catros S, Duocastella M, Pippenger B, Bellance S, et al. Laser assisted bioprinting of engineered tissue with high cell density and microscale organization. Biomaterials 2010;31(28):7250–6.
- [105] Bertassoni LE, Cecconi M, Manoharan V, Nikkhah M, Hjortnaes J, Cristino AL, et al. Hydrogel bioprinted microchannel networks for vascularization of tissue engineering constructs. Lab Chip 2014;14(13):2202–11.
- [106] Gao Q, He Y, Fu J-z, Liu A, Ma L. Coaxial nozzle-assisted 3D bioprinting with built-in microchannels for nutrients delivery. Biomaterials 2015;61:203–15.
- [107] Jia W, Gungor-Ozkerim PS, Zhang YS, Yue K, Zhu K, Liu W, et al. Direct 3D bioprinting of perfusable vascular constructs using a blend bioink. Biomaterials 2016;106:58-68.
- [108] Wu Y, Zhang Y, Yu Y, Ozbolat IT. 3D coaxial bioprinting of vasculature. In: Crook J, editor. 3D bioprinting, vol. 2140. New York: Humana; 2020. p. 171–81.
- [109] Das S, Jang J. Bioprinting vasculature. In: 3D bioprinting in medicine. Cham: Springer; 2019. p. 127–48.
- [110] Tomanek RJ, Runyan RB, editors. formation of the heart and its regulation. Basel: Birkhäuser; 2001.
- [111] Martins AM, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Reis RL. The current status of iPS cells in cardiac research and their potential for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Stem Cell Rev 2014;10(2):177–90.
- [112] Lee S, Serpooshan V, Tong X, Venkatraman S, Lee M, Lee J, et al. Contractile force generation by 3D hiPSC-derived cardiac tissues is enhanced by rapid establishment of cellular interconnection in matrix with muscle-mimicking stiffness. Biomaterials 2017;131:111–20.
  [113] Wang Q, Wang H, Li Z, Wang Y, Wu X, Tan Y. Mesenchymal stem cell-loaded
- [113] Wang Q, Wang H, Li Z, Wang Y, Wu X, Tan Y. Mesenchymal stem cell-loaded cardiac patch promotes epicardial activation and repair of the infarcted myocardium. J Cell Mol Med 2017;21(9):1751–66.
- [114] Wang B, Borazjani A, Tahai M, Curry ALJ, Simionescu DT, Guan J, et al. Fabrication of cardiac patch with decellularized porcine myocardial scaffold and bone marrow mononuclear cells. J Biomed Mater Res 2010;94(4): 1100–10.
- [115] Gaetani R, Doevendans PA, Metz CHG, Alblas J, Messina E, Giacomello A, et al. Cardiac tissue engineering using tissue printing technology and human cardiac progenitor cells. Biomaterials 2012;33(6):1782–90.
- [116] Gaebel R, Ma N, Liu J, Guan J, Koch L, Klopsch C, et al. Patterning human stem cells and endothelial cells with laser printing for cardiac regeneration. Biomaterials 2011;32(35):9218–30.
- [117] Xu T, Baicu C, Aho M, Zile M, Boland T. Fabrication and characterization of bio-engineered cardiac pseudo tissues. Biofabrication 2009;1(3):035001.
- [118] Zhang YS, Arneri A, Bersini S, Shin S, Zhu K, Goli-Malekabadi Z, et al. Bioprinting 3D microfibrous scaffolds for engineering endothelialized myocardium and heart-on-A-chip. Biomaterials 2016;110:45–59.
- [119] Schmidt CE, Leach JB. Neural tissue engineering: strategies for repair and regeneration. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2003;5:293–347.
- [120] Fry EJ. Central nervous system regeneration: mission impossible? Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2001;28(4):253–8.
- [121] Knowlton S, Anand S, Shah T, Tasoglu S. Bioprinting for neural tissue engineering. Trends Neurosci 2017;41(1):31–46.
- [122] Xu T, Jin J, Gregory C, Hickman JJ, Boland T. Inkjet printing of viable mammalian cells. Biomaterials 2005;26(1):93–9.
- [123] Xu T, Gregory CA, Molnar P, Cui X, Jalota S, Bhaduri SB, et al. Viability and electrophysiology of neural cell structures generated by the inkjet printing method. Biomaterials 2006;27(19):3580–8.
- [124] Lorber B, Hsiao W, Hutchings IM, Martin KR. Adult rat retinal ganglion cells and glia can Be printed by piezoelectric inkjet printing. Biofabrication 2014;6(1):015001.
- [125] Hsieh F, Lin H, Hsu S. 3D bioprinting of neural stem cell-laden thermoresponsive biodegradable polyurethane hydrogel and potential in central nervous system repair. Biomaterials 2015;71:48–57.
- [126] Owens CM, Marga F, Forgacs G, Heesch CM. Biofabrication and testing of a fully cellular nerve graft. Biofabrication 2013;5(4):045007.
- [127] Zhu W, Harris BT, Zhang LG. Gelatin methacrylamide hydrogel with graphene nanoplatelets for neural cell-laden 3D bioprinting. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2016:4185–8.
- [128] Chambers D, Huang C, Matthews G. Liver function. In: Chambers D, Huang C, Matthews G, editors. Basic physiology for anaesthetists. Cambridge University Press; 2015. p. 299–306.
- [129] Fukumitsu K, Yagi H, Soto-Gutierrez A. Bioengineering in organ transplantation: targeting the liver. Transplant Proc 2011;43(6):2137–8.
- [130] Lee JS, Cho S. Liver tissue engineering: recent advances in the development of a bio-artificial liver. Biotechnol Bioproc E 2012;17:427–38.
- [131] Li S, Xiong Z, Wang X, Yan Y, Liu H, Zhang R. Direct fabrication of a hybrid cell/hydrogel construct by a double-nozzle assembling technology. J Bioact Compat Polym 2009;24(3).
- [132] Robbins JB, Gorgen V, Min P, Shepherd BR, Presnell SC. A novel in vitro threedimensional bioprinted liver tissue system for drug development. Faseb J 2013;27(S1):872.12.
- [133] Zein NN, Hanouneh IA, Bishop PD, Samaan M, Eghtesad B, Quintini C, et al. Three-dimensional print of a liver for preoperative planning in living donor liver transplantation. Liver Transplant 2013;19(12):1304–10.
- [134] Leva V, Chatzipetrou M, Alexopoulos LG, Tzeranis DS, Zergioti I. Direct laser printing of liver cells on porous collagen scaffolds. J Laser Micro Nanoen 2018;13(3):234–8.

- [135] Goulart E, Caires-Junior LC, Telles-Silva KA, Araujo BHS, Rocco SA, Sforca M, et al. "3D bioprinting of liver spheroids derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells sustain liver function and viability in vitro. Biofabrication 2019;12(1):015010.
- [136] Ma X, Qu X, Zhu W, Li Y, Yuan S, Zhang H, et al. Deterministically patterned biomimetic human iPSC-derived hepatic model via rapid 3D bioprinting. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2016;113(8):2206–11.
- [137] Kryou C, Leva V, Chatzipetrou M, Zergioti I. Bioprinting for liver transplantation. Bioengineering 2019;6(4):95.
- [138] Widmaier EP, Raff H, Strang KT, Vander AJ. Vander's human physiology: the mechanisms of body function. Boston: McGraw Hill Higher Education; 2008.
- [139] Marieb EN, Hoehn K. Human anatomy & physiology. 9th ed. Boston: Pearson; 2012.
- [140] Bulanova E, Koudan EV, Degosserie J, Heymans C, Pereira F, Parfenov VA, et al. Bioprinting of a functional vascularized mouse thyroid gland construct. Biofabrication 2017;9(3):034105.
- [141] Björklund P, Hellman P. In: Mitry RR, Hughes RD, editors. Methods in molecular biology. Humana; 2012. p. 43.
- [142] Park Y, Kim H, Jin YM, Yu Y, Kim HY, Park HS, et al. Differentiated tonsilderived mesenchymal stem cells embedded in Matrigel restore parathyroid cell functions in rats with parathyroidectomy. Biomaterials 2015;65: 140–52.
- [143] Park YS, Hwang J, Jun Y, Jin YM, Kim G, Kim HY, et al. Scaffold-free parathyroid tissue engineering using tonsil-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Acta Biomater 2016;35:215–27.
- [144] Park YS, Lee Y, Jin YM, Kim G, Jung SC, Park KD, Jo I, et al. Sustained release of parathyroid hormone via in situ cross-linking gelatin hydrogels improves the therapeutic potential of tonsil-derived mesenchymal stem cells for hypoparathyroidism. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2018;12(3):1747–56.
- [145] Gokyurek M, Yilmaz KB, Huri PY. 3D bioprinting for the endocrine glands. Emergent Mater 2020:441–52.
- [146] Lee SJ, Lee JB, Park Y, Lee DY. 3D bioprinting for artificial pancreas organ. Adv Exp Med Biol 2018;1064:355-74.
- [147] Farina M, Chua C, Ballerini A, Thekkedath U, Alexander J, Rhudy J, et al. Transcutaneously refillable, 3D-printed biopolymeric encapsulation system for the transplantation of endocrine cells. Biomaterials 2018;177:125–38.
- [148] Krotz SP, Robins JC, Ferruccio TM, Moore R, Steinhoff MM, Morgan JR, et al. In vitro maturation of oocytes via the pre-fabricated self-assembled artificial human ovary. J Assist Reprod Genet 2010;27(12):743–50.
- [149] Laronda MM, Rutz AL, Xiao S, Whelan KA, Duncan FE, Roth EW, et al. A bioprosthetic ovary created using 3D printed microporous scaffolds restores ovarian function in sterilized mice. Nat Commun 2017;8.
- [150] Allen RA, Seltz LM, Jiang H, Kasick RT, Sellaro TL, Badylak SF, et al. Adrenal extracellular matrix scaffolds support adrenocortical cell proliferation and function in vitro. Tissue Eng 2010;16(11):3363–74.
- [151] Balyura M, Gelfgat E, Ehrhart-Bornstein M, Ludwig B, Gendler Z, Barkai U, et al. Transplantation of bovine adrenocortical cells encapsulated in alginate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015;112(8):2527–32.
- [152] Rimann M, Laternser S, Keller H, Leupin O, Graf-Hausner U. 3D bioprinted muscle and tendon tissues for drug development. Chimia 2015.
- [153] Zhuang P, An J, Chua CK, Tan LP. Bioprinting of 3D in vitro skeletal muscle models: a review. Mater Des 2020;193:108794.
- [154] Turunen S, Kaisto S, Skovorodkin I, Mironov V, Kalpio T, Vainio S, et al. 3D bioprinting of the kidney—hype or hope? AIMS Cell Tissue Eng 2018;2(3): 119–62.
- [155] Rider P, Kačarević ŽP, Alkildani S, Retnasingh S, Barbeck M. Bioprinting of tissue engineering scaffolds. J Tissue Eng 2018;9:2041731418802090.
- [156] Frejo L, Grande D. 3D-bioprinted tracheal reconstruction: an overview. Bioelectron Med 2019;5:15.
- [157] Osagie J, Syeda S, Krueger A, Turner-Brannen E, West AR. Validation of A 3D bioprinted model of airway smooth muscle – a novel tool to study the effects of airway stiffening in asthma. Faseb J 2020;34(S1):1.
- [158] Zopf DA, Green GE. Bioprinting in otolaryngology and airway reconstruction. In: Khademhosseini A, Camci-Unal G, editors. 3D bioprinting in regenerative engineering. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2018.
- [159] Galliger Z, Vogt C, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A. 3D bioprinting for lungs and hollow organs. Transl Res 2019;211:19–34.
- [160] Chae MP, Hunter-Smith DJ, Murphy SV, Findlay MW. 3D bioprinting adipose tissue for breast reconstruction. In: Thomas DJ, Jessop ZM, Whitaker IS, editors. 3D bioprinting for reconstructive surgery. Woodhead Publishing; 2018. p. 305–53.
- [161] Thakur G, Rodrigues FC, Singh K. Crosslinking biopolymers for advanced drug delivery and tissue engineering applications. In: Chun H, Park C, Kwon I, Khang G, editors. Cutting-edge enabling technologies for regenerative medicine. Singapore: Springer; 2018. p. 213–31.
- [162] Tappa K, Jammalamadaka U, Ballard DH, Bruno T, Israel MR, Vemula H, et al. Medication eluting devices for the field of OBGYN (MEDOBGYN): 3D printed biodegradable hormone eluting constructs, a proof of concept study. PloS One 2017;12(8):e0182929.
- [163] Martinez PR, Goyanes A, Basit AW, Gaisford S. Fabrication of drug-loaded hydrogels with stereolithographic 3D printing. Int J Pharm 2017;532(1): 313-7.
- [164] Genina N, Boetker JP, Colombo S, Harmankaya N, Rantanen J, Bohr A. Antituberculosis drug combination for controlled oral delivery using 3D printed

compartmental dosage forms: from drug product design to in vivo testing. J Contr Release 2017;268:40-8.

- [165] Ozbolat IT. Future trends. In: 3D bioprinting: fundamentals, principles and applications. Academic Press; 2017. p. 313–36.
- [166] Nie J, Gao Q, Fu J, He Y. Grafting of 3D bioprinting to in vitro drug screening: a review. Adv Healthc Mater 2020;9(7):e1901773.
- [167] Cui X, Breitenkamp K, Lotz M, Lima D. Synergistic action of fibroblast growth factor-2 and transforming growth factor-beta1 enhances bioprinted human neocartilage formation. Biotechnol Bioeng 2012;109(9):2357–68.
- [168] Hong S, Song S, Lee JY, Jang H, Choi J, Sun K, et al. Cellular behavior in micropatterned hydrogels by bioprinting system depended on the cell types and cellular interaction. J Biosci Bioeng 2013;116(2):224–30.
- [169] Hong S, Lee JY, Hwang C, Shin JH, Park Y. Inhibition of rho-associated protein kinase increases the angiogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cell aggregates via paracrine effects. Tissue Eng 2016;22(3–4):233–43.
- [170] Nguyen DG, Funk J, Robbins JB, Crogan-Grundy C, Presnell SC, Singer T, et al. Bioprinted 3D primary liver tissues allow assessment of organ-level response to clinical drug induced toxicity in vitro. PloS One 2016;11(7): e0158674.
- [171] Albritton JL, Miller JS. 3D bioprinting: improving in vitro models of metastasis with heterogeneous tumor microenvironments. Dis Model Mech 2017;10(1):3–14.
- [172] Zhou X, Zhu W, Nowicki M, Miao S, Cui H, Holmes B, et al. 3D bioprinting a cell-laden bone matrix for breast cancer metastasis study. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2016;8(44):30017–26.
- [173] Heinrich MA, Bansal R, Lammers T, Zhang YS, Schiffelers RM, Prakash J. 3D-Bioprinted mini-brain: a glioblastoma model to study cellular interactions and therapeutics. Adv Mater 2019;31(14):e1806590.
- [174] Xu F, Celli J, Rizvi I, Moon S, Hasan T, Demirci U. A three-dimensional in vitro ovarian cancer coculture model using a high-throughput cell patterning platform. Biotechnol J 2013;6(2):204–12.
- [175] Snyder JE, Hamid Q, Wang C, Chang R, Emami K, Wu H, et al. Bioprinting cellladen matrigel for radioprotection study of liver by pro-drug conversion in a dual-tissue microfluidic chip. Biofabrication 2011;3(3).
- [176] Lee VK, Dai G, Zou H, Yoo S. Generation of 3-D glioblastoma-vascular niche using 3-D bioprinting. In: 41st annual northeast biomedical engineering conference. NEBEC; 2015.
- [177] van Pel DM, Harada K, Song D, Naus CC, Sin WC. Modelling glioma invasion using 3D bioprinting and scaffold-free 3D culture. J Cell Commun Signal 2018;12(4):723–30.
- [178] Huang TQ, Qu X, Liu J, Chen S. 3D printing of biomimetic microstructures for cancer cell migration. Biomed Microdevices 2014;16(1):127–32.
- [179] Almela T, Al-Sahaf S, Brook I, Khoshroo K, Rasoulianboroujeni M, Fahimipour F, et al. 3D printed tissue engineered model for bone invasion of oral cancer. Tissue Cell 2018;52:71–7.
- [180] Zhao Y, Yao R, Ouyang L, Ding H, Zhang T, Zhang K, et al. Three-dimensional printing of Hela cells for cervical tumor model in vitro. Biofabrication 2014;6(3).
- [181] Grolman JM, Zhang D, Smith AM, Moore JS, Kilian KA. Rapid 3D extrusion of synthetic tumor microenvironments. Adv Mater 2015;27(37):5512–7.
- [182] Hribar KC, Finlay D, Ma X, Qu X, Ondeck MG, Chung PH, et al. Nonlinear 3D projection printing of concave hydrogel microstructures for long-term multicellular spheroid and embryoid body culture. Lab Chip 2015;15(11):2412–8.
- [183] Ling K, Huang G, Liu J, Zhang X, Ma Y, Lu T, et al. Bioprinting-based highthroughput fabrication of three-dimensional MCF-7 human breast cancer cellular spheroids. Engineering 2015;1(2):269–74.
- [184] Dai X, Ma C, Lan Q, Xu T. 3D bioprinted glioma stem cells for brain tumor model and applications of drug susceptibility. Biofabrication 2016;8(4).
- [185] Wang X, Li X, Dai X, Zhang X, Zhang J, Xu T, et al. Coaxial extrusion bioprinted shell-core hydrogel microfibers mimic glioma microenvironment and enhance the drug resistance of cancer cells. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 2018;171:291–9.
- [186] Dai X, Liu L, Ouyang J, Li X, Zhang X, Lan Q, et al. Coaxial 3D bioprinting of self-assembled multicellular heterogeneous tumor fibers. Sci Rep 2017;7: 1457.
- [187] Burks HE, Phamduy TB, Azimi MS, Saksena J, Burow ME, Collins-Burow BM, et al. Laser direct-write onto live tissues: a novel model for studying cancer cell migration. J Cell Physiol 2016;231(11):2333–8.
- [188] Park T, Kang D, Jang I, Yun W, Shim J, Jeong YH, et al. Fabrication of in vitro cancer microtissue array on fibroblast-layered nanofibrous membrane by inkjet printing. Int J Mol Sci 2017;18(11):2348.

- [189] Jain RK, Au P, Tam J, Duda DG, Fukumura D. Engineering vascularized tissue. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23(7):821–3.
- [190] Suarez-Martinez A, Sole-Gras M, Dykes S, Wakefield ZR, Bauer K, Lampejo A, et al. Abstract A23: a novel tumor microenvironment model that combines bioprinting and tissue culture to investigate cancer cell and microvascular interactions. In: AACR special conference on the evolving landscape of cancer modeling; 2020. San Diego.
- [191] Hynes WF, Pepona M, Robertson C, Alvarado J, Dubbin K, Triplett M, et al. Examining metastatic behavior within 3D bioprinted vasculature for the validation of a 3D computational flow model. Sci Adv 2020;6.
- [192] Wang Y, Shi W, Kuss M, Mirza S, Qi D, Krasnoslobodtsev A, et al. 3D bioprinting of breast cancer models for drug resistance study. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2018;4(12):4401–11.
- [193] King SM, Gorgen V, Presnell SC, Nguyen DG, Shepherd BR. Development of 3D bioprinted human breast cancer for in vitro drug screening. Canc Res 2014;74(19 Suppl). Abstract nr 2034.
- [194] Han S, Kim S, Chen Z, Shin HK, Lee S, Moon HE, et al. 3D bioprinted vascularized tumour for drug testing. Int J Mol Sci 2020;21(8):2993.
- [195] Sun L, Yang H, Wang Y, Zhang X, Jin B, Xie F, et al. Application of a 3D bioprinted hepatocellular carcinoma cell model in antitumor drug research. Front Oncol 2020;10:878.
- [196] Peng W, Datta P, Ayan B, Ozbolat V, Sosnoski D, Ozbolat IT. 3D bioprinting for drug discovery and development in pharmaceutics. Acta Biomater 2017;57: 26-46.
- [197] Kanno Y, Nakatsuka T, Saijo H, Fujihara Y, Atsuhiko H, Chung U, et al. Computed tomographic evaluation of novel custom-made artificial bones, 'CT-bone', applied for maxillofacial reconstruction. Regenerative Therapy 2016;5:1–8.
- [198] Corbett DC, Olszewski E, Stevens K. A FRESH take on resolution. Trends Biotechnol 2019;37(11):1153–5.
- [199] Levato R, Jungst T, Scheuring RG, Blunk T, Groll J, Malda J. From shape to function: the next step in bioprinting. Adv Mater 2020;32(12).
- [200] Erdem A, Darabi MA, Nasiri R, Sangabathuni S, Ertas YN, Alem H, et al. 3D bioprinting of oxygenated cell-laden gelatin methacryloyl constructs. Adv Healthc Mater 2020;9(15):1901794.
- [201] Ozbolat IT. Bioprinting scale-up tissue and organ constructs for transplantation. Trends Biotechnol 2015;33(7):395–400.
- [202] Chen Y, Zhang J, Liu X, Wang S, Tao J, Huang Y, et al. Noninvasive in vivo 3D bioprinting. Sci Adv 2020;6(23):eaba7406.
- [203] Zhao W, Xu T. Preliminary engineering for in situ in vivo bioprinting: a novel micro bioprinting platform for in situ in vivo bioprinting at a gastric wound site. Biofabrication 2020;12.
- [204] Chircov C, Grumezescu AM. Three-dimensional bioprinting in drug delivery. In: Materials for biomedical engineering. Elsevier; 2019. p. 19–40.
- [205] Fetah K, Tebon P, Goudie MJ, Eichenbaum J, Ren L, Barros N, et al. The emergence of 3D bioprinting in organ-on-chip systems. Prog Biomed Eng 2019;1:012001.
- [206] Yang Q, Gao B, Xu F. Recent advances in 4D bioprinting. Biotechnol J 2019;15(1):e1900086.
- [207] Ozbolat IT, Peng W, Ozbolat V. Application areas of 3D bioprinting. Drug Discov Today 2016. vol. 00, no. 00.
- [208] Heid S, Boccaccini AR. Advancing bioinks for 3D bioprinting using reactive fillers: a review. Acta Biomater 2020;113:1–22.
- [209] Morgan FLC, Moroni L, Baker MB. Dynamic bioinks to advance bioprinting. Adv Healthc Mater 2020;9(15):1901798.
- [210] Murphy SV, Coppi P, Atala A. Opportunities and challenges of translational 3D bioprinting. Nat Biomed Eng 2020;4(4):370–80.
- [211] Lee JM, Yeong WY. Design and printing strategies in 3D bioprinting of cellhydrogels: a review. Adv Healthc Mater 2016;5(22):2856–65.
- [212] Chameettachal S, Yeleswarapu S, Sasikumar S, Shukla P, Hibare P, Bera AK, et al. 3D bioprinting: recent trends and challenges. J Indian Inst Sci 2019;99: 375-403.
- [213] Sun W, Starly B, Daly AC, Burdick JA, Groll J, Skeldon G, et al. The bioprinting roadmap. Biofabrication 2020;12:022002.
- [214] Gilbert F, O'Connell CD, Mladenovska T, Dodds S. Print me an organ? Ethical and regulatory issues emerging from 3D bioprinting in medicine. Sci Eng Ethics 2018;24(1):73–91.
- [215] Mota F, Braga L, Rocha L, Cabral B. 3D and 4D bioprinted human model patenting and the future of drug development. Nat Biotechnol 2020;38(6): 689–94.
- [216] Li J, Chen M, Fan X, Zhou H. Recent advances in bioprinting techniques: approaches, applications and future prospects. J Transl Med 2016;14:231.